

CNDA Bylaws

SECTION 1: Interpretation

- 1.1 In these Bylaws:
 - (a) "Act" means the Health Professions Act of the Province of Alberta;
 - (b) "College" means the College of Naturopathic Doctors of Alberta;
 - (c) "Council" means the Council of the College established pursuant to Section 5 of the Act;
 - (d) "Council Member" means a member of the Council;
 - (e) "Member" means a person registered as a Regulated Member of the College;
 - (f) "Regulated Member" means a person who is registered as a member under Section 33(1)(a) of the Act; and
 - (g) "Regulations" means regulations made under the Act.
- 1.2 A reference in these Bylaws to Council, an Officer, person or committee includes any delegate of the Council, officer, person or committee.

SECTION 2: Council of the College

- 2.1 The governing body of the College is the Council. Council is empowered to:
 - (a) Act on behalf of the College to implement the applicable requirements of the Act;
 - (b) Establish, revise and approve policies, procedures, Bylaws and directives which govern the activities of the members, Council, officers of the College and committees;
 - (c) Delegate authority and responsibility for implementation of the College's policies to the Registrar or any other staff member;
 - (d) Appoint any committees, in addition to the committees referenced in this Bylaw, as Council may consider necessary and advisable, and may, by resolution and without requirement of further bylaws, designate such further committees and the powers and duties of any committee;
 - (e) Provide for the appointment of individuals in accordance to the Act;
 - (f) Conduct reviews or appeals in accordance to the Act;
 - (g) Establish a continuing competence program in accordance to the Act;
 - (h) Establish and oversee the financial structure of the College including the auditing of the finances; and,
 - (i) Determine from time to time who shall have the authority to sign documents required to be signed on behalf of the College.
 - (j) Approve CNDA Council Policies to determine its own procedures, subject to the Act, the Regulations, and these bylaws.
- 2.2 Council shall only speak as a whole and no one member of Council shall speak on behalf of the Council without the consensus of Council as a whole.

CNDA Bylaws Page 1 of 13



SECTION 3: Officers of the College

- 3.1 Council is comprised of:
 - (a) President;
 - (b) Vice President;
 - (c) A minimum of 3 and up to four (4) Members-at-Large;
 - (d) Up to three (3) public members, who shall be appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council in accordance with the Act; and
 - (e) Any ex-officio members appointed by Council, who shall be non-voting members
- 3.2 Council shall elect a President and Vice President from among the members of Council at the October council meeting annually.
- 3.3 The President shall preside as Chair in Council.
- 3.4 In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall preside as Chair in Council.
- 3.5 It shall be the duty of the President to preside at all meetings of the College and of Council.
- 3.6 In the absence of the President, the Vice President shall have the powers and duties of the President.
- 3.7 The Vice President shall, upon the request of the President, perform the duties of the President during their absence, illness or incapacity.
- 3.8 If two-thirds or more of the members of Council present and voting vote, Council may move to remove the President or Vice-President from their role as President or Vice-President at any time.
- 3.9 Upon the re-election of the President to Council for a new term, the President may maintain the position of President but only if confirmed through election by the Council by a majority vote (a quorum consists of 50 percent of the voting members of Council, plus one).
- 3.10 In the event that the President and Vice-President are not elected to Council for a new term, the President shall remain President (ex-officio) until a new President is elected by Council and shall remain an ex-officio member of Council until October 31 to facilitate succession.
- 3.11 In the event that the President steps down from the role of President and as a Council member, the President shall remain an ex-officio member of council for a period of two months from the end of the President's term on Council to facilitate succession.
- 3.12 In the event that the President is not elected to Council for a new term, steps down from the role of President, is removed as President, or is not elected by Council to continue as President pursuant to 3.8 herein, the Vice President succeeds to the Office of President but only if their succession is confirmed through election by the Council by a majority vote (50% +1). If the Vice President is not elected by Council to succeed to the position of President, then the Council shall elect another member of Council to be President.
- 3.13 All Council Members (other than replacements for seats vacated prior to term completion) shall serve a three (3) year term.

CNDA Bylaws Page **2** of **13**



- 3.14 A Council Member may at any time resign by letter directed to the Registrar. In the event of resignation, or vacancy for any other reason which occurs not more than eighteen (18) months before the expiry of the Council Member's term of office, the Council may:
 - (a) Leave the seat vacant; or
 - (b) Call for new nominations and hold a special election to fill the vacated seat; or,
 - (c) If 3.12(b) has been exhausted and no candidate elected to fill the vacant seat, Council may appoint a candidate to the vacant seat.
- 3.15 If the seat of an elected Council Member becomes vacant more than eighteen (18) months before the expiry of a Council Member's term of office, the Council shall call for new nominations and hold a special election to fill the vacant seat.
- 3.16 The term of a Council Member elected in accordance with Bylaws 3.12(b) or 3.12(c) shall continue until the time the former Council Member's term would have expired or for an extended term of not more than an additional 18 months if Council deems that the College's interests would be best served by extending the former member's term.
- 3.17 A member of Council shall be removed from their position in the event that they:
 - a) are suspended from practice through disciplinary action by the College;
 - b) are found guilty of unprofessional conduct under the Act; or
 - c) has their registration cancelled by the College unless there are extenuating circumstances acceptable to Council.
- 3.18 A member of Council may be removed from their position in the event that they:
 - a) miss three (3) consecutive meetings of Council without reasonable excuse;
 - b) violate any CNDA Council Policy;
 - c) are found guilty of an offence under the Criminal Code of Canada; or
 - are or has been engaged in any conduct or activity that undermines the College or its objectives.
- 3.19 In the case of any of the circumstances arising in Bylaw 3.16 (a) to (d) above, Council shall meet and vote on whether the member will be removed from Council;
 - a) if two-thirds or more of the members of Council present and voting vote in favour of removing the member from Council, the member concerned shall thereby be removed from office as a member of Council; and
 - b) the member of Council who is the subject of the vote under subsection (a) shall not vote.
- 3.20 The Registrar:
 - (a) is appointed by Council;
 - (b) acts as the Chief Executive Officer of the College and is responsible for the implementation of policy established by Council;

CNDA Bylaws Page **3** of **13**



- (c) oversees the administration of the College;
- (d) reports to and takes directions from Council;
- (e) shall perform all duties required of, and exercise the powers provided to, the Registrar in the Act, the Regulations and these bylaws; and,
- (f) is authorized to prescribe such forms, certificates, permits, or other documents that may be required for the purposes of the Act, the Regulation, or these bylaws.
- 3.21 Council designates the CNDA Council public member with the most seniority to make decisions under s.65(1) of the Act.
- 3.22 Council designates the CNDA Council public member with the most seniority to make decisions under s.86(1) of the Act.

SECTION 4: Council Meetings

- 4.1 Council shall endeavour to meet a minimum of six (6) times per year.
- 4.2 Council may meet virtually or in person at their discretion.
- 4.3 The Registrar and other invited College staff are permitted to attend Council meetings and may remain in Council meetings even when the meeting, or portion thereof, is ordered to be closed.
- 4.4 In addition to regularly scheduled meetings, the President may also call a special meeting of the Council as required. A special meeting may also be called at the request of a quorum of Council Members.
- 4.5 A quorum consists of 50 percent of the voting members of Council, plus one.
- 4.6 If the President or the Vice President are not present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time appointed for holding such meeting, the other members of Council present shall choose from one of the members of Council to act as Chair.
- 4.7 Unless otherwise directed by Council, meetings are closed to the public. Members of the College may attend meetings of Council with the permission of the President. Council may direct that a meeting, or portion of a meeting be ordered to be closed. Members, who are not members of Council, present at the meeting will be excluded from such closed proceedings.
- 4.8 If one or more Council Member(s) is unable to attend a meeting of the Council in person, the Council Member(s) may participate in the meeting by way of teleconference or videoconference.
- 4.9 Decisions of Council shall be made as follows:
 - At a Council meeting, by a vote of the majority of those present (whether in person or by teleconference or videoconference) and voting at the meeting;
 - b) During a meeting solely by way of teleconference or videoconference, by a vote of a majority of those members participating in the conference and who vote; or
 - c) For a vote held by mail, facsimile, or electronic means, by a vote of a majority of those participating in the vote.
- 4.10 An ex-officio member of Council shall not vote unless Council agrees otherwise.
- 4.11 The Registrar and any other invited College staff shall not vote.

CNDA Bylaws Page **4** of **13**



4.12 All Council Members, except those referred to in Bylaw 4.10, including the President, present at or participating in a Council Meeting, shall each be entitled to one vote.

SECTION 5: Elections

- 5.1 There shall be an election for any regulated member vacancy on Council on a date set by the Registrar.
- 5.2 A call for nominations shall be forwarded at the direction of the Registrar to all Regulated Members, at the email address shown in the records of the College, at least seventy-five (75) days prior to the anticipated Council seat vacancy, together with the following:
 - (a) Blank nomination form;
 - (b) Confirmation of Eligibility Form;
 - (c) Election Undertaking
 - (d) Conflict of Interest Questionnaire;
 - (e) Fiduciary Agreement;
 - (f) Agreement Regarding Duties of Members of Council; and
 - (g) Notice of the closing date for receipt of nominations, which will be no later than thirty (30) days prior to the anticipated Council seat vacancy.
- 5.3 Nomination forms shall be submitted to the Registrar within the time provided for in the call for nominations. Each form shall be signed by two (2) Regulated Members in good standing.
- 5.4 After the closing date for nominations has expired, the Nominations Committee, which shall be comprised of the President, Vice President, and one additional Council member appointed by the President, shall prepare a list of the eligible candidates that have been nominated. Where the President or Vice President is a potential candidate for nomination, the President or Vice President will be ineligible to act as a Nominations Committee member and an additional Council member will be appointed (by the remaining of the President or Vice President) to take their place.
- 5.5 In the event that an insufficient number of nominations have been received to fill all of the vacant positions on Council, the Nominations Committee shall have the power to add names to the proposed list of candidates, subject to the following:
 - (a) The proposed candidate must agree to have their name added to the list;
 - (b) The proposed candidate must be otherwise eligible for nomination.
- 5.6 All Regulated Members who are in good standing are eligible for nomination.
- 5.7 A Regulated Member of the College shall be in good standing only if:
 - (c) No fines, fees, costs, or levies are owing by the Member to the College; and
 - (d) The Member is not subject to any disciplinary or incapacity proceeding;

CNDA Bylaws Page **5** of **13**



- (e) The Member has not been disqualified from Council in the preceding three (3) years; and
- (f) In the case of Regulated Members, the Regulated Member has a valid Practice Permit and his registration is not:
 - (i) under suspension pursuant to Part 4 of the Act;
 - (ii) cancelled pursuant to Part 4 of the Act; or
 - (iii) subject to any conditions or restrictions on practice under Part 4 of the Act.
- 5.8 At close of nominations, the Nominations Committee shall compile a complete list of candidates, which shall be forwarded to the Registrar.
- 5.9 Upon Receipt of the list of candidates, the Registrar shall:
 - (a) Prepare a list of eligible voters;
 - (b) Provide the following information to each Regulated Member of the College who is eligible to vote:
 - (i) Biographical data pertaining to each candidate;
 - (ii) Notification of the date on which completed ballots must be received, which shall be no later than ten (10) days prior to the anticipated Council seat vacancy.
- 5.10 Voting shall be by a secure electronic process approved by Council.
- 5.11 A Regulated Member entitled to vote shall have one vote for each vacancy on Council.
- 5.12 Candidates shall be elected by a plurality of votes.
- 5.13 If there are an equal number of votes for two or more candidates, the Registrar shall, within a reasonable period of time, hold a by-election in the same manner, all necessary modifications implied, for the candidates with the equal number of votes.
- 5.14 After the deadline for receipt of ballots has passed, the Registrar shall request a certified voting report from the electronic voting provider and shall provide the President with:
 - (a) A list of the successful candidates;
 - (b) The number of votes received by each candidate; and
 - (c) An accounting of any discrepancies in voting, if any.
- 5.15 The Registrar shall retain a copy of the certified voting report until authorized by Council to destroy such report.
- 5.16 The Registrar shall report the names of the successful candidates to the Members and shall report, upon the request of the Members, the voting information with the consent of the nominees.
- 5.17 If, after any nominations or elections period has passed and a vacant Council seat remains unfilled, the Nominations Committee may present to Council the name of a candidate to fill the vacant seat until the expiry of the term for that seat provided:
 - (a) The proposed candidate agrees to have their name added to the list;

CNDA Bylaws Page 6 of 13



- (b) The proposed candidate is otherwise eligible for nomination; and,
- (c) Two-thirds or more of the members of Council present and voting vote in favour.

SECTION 6: Executive Committee

- 6.1 The Executive Committee of the College shall consist of:
 - (a) The President, who shall serve as Chair,
 - (b) The Vice President,
 - (c) One (1) Public Member, if approved by Alberta Health, and
 - (d) The Registrar as an ex officio member.
- 6.2 The authority and responsibilities of each member of the Executive Committee shall be as determined by Council.
- 6.3 Terms of office for members of the Executive Committee shall be for a two (2) year period.
- 6.4 The Registrar shall be a non-voting member of the Executive Committee.
- 6.5 The powers and duties of the Executive Committee are:
 - (a) To manage the affairs of the College to the extent the same are delegated to it by Council;
 - (b) To prepare the annual budget of the College; and
 - (c) To identify issues of importance to the College and to bring forward issues for consideration by the Council.
- 6.6 The President may call meetings of the Executive Committee at any time deemed necessary or advisable.

SECTION 7: Standing Committees

- 7.1 Council shall appoint no fewer than three (3) Regulated Members to each standing committee with the exception of the Competence Committee which shall have no fewer than five (5) appointed Regulated Members.
- 7.2 Standing committee shall include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Registration Committee
 - (b) Competence Committee
- 7.3 Council shall designate a member of each standing committee to act as the Chair.
- 7.4 Each standing committee shall carry out the powers and duties outlined under the Act or otherwise delegated by Council.
- 7.5 A quorum of each standing committee is three (3) members.
- 7.6 A decision of the standing committee shall be by a vote of a majority of the members present at a meeting.
- 7.7 The Registrar may attend meetings of each standing committee but will not be permitted to vote.

CNDA Bylaws Page **7** of **13**



- 7.8 Each standing committee shall make decisions that are then presented to Council or the Registrar as appropriate as recommendation for their consideration and subsequent vote, if to Council.
- 7.9 Council may designate other ad hoc committees from time to time, as deemed appropriate by Council.
- 7.10 Membership, terms of reference and the procedures to be followed by ad hoc committees shall be as determined by Council.

SECTION 8: Hearing Tribunal and Complaint Review Committee

- 8.1 Council must appoint members to a membership list consisting of no fewer than four (4) regulated members to be used for appointing members to both hearing tribunals and complaint review committees.
- 8.2 The Hearing Tribunal and Complaints Review Committee shall carry out the powers and duties outlined under the Act.

SECTION 9: Panels

- 9.1 Pursuant to s.18(1)(a) of the HPA, Council designates the President to appoint 3 or more members of Council to sit as a panel for the purposes of an appeal or review, subject to the provisions of s.12(1) of the HPA.
- 9.2 If the President is unable to act under s.9.1 of the Bylaws, then Council designates the Vice-President to appoint 3 or more members of Council to sit as a panel for the purposes of an appeal or a review, subject to the provisions of s.12(1) of the HPA.
- 9.3 Unless there are insufficient members of Council to form an appeal or review panel, the President shall not sit on an appeal or review panel, or in the case where the Vice-President has appointed the panel, the Vice-President shall not sit on an appeal or review panel.

SECTION 10: Registration

- 10.1 The following categories of Regulated Members are hereby established, in accordance with the Regulations:
 - (a) Naturopathic Doctor, who is a Regulated Member registered on the General Register in accordance with the Regulations;
 - (b) Provisional Naturopathic Doctor, who is a Regulated Member registered on the Provisional Register in accordance with the Regulations; and
 - (c) Courtesy Registrant, who is a Regulated Member registered on the Courtesy Register in accordance with the Regulations.

CNDA Bylaws Page **8** of **13**



- 10.2 The Registrar must require Regulated Members and Applicants for registration as Regulated Members to provide information respecting:
 - (a) The demographic status of the Regulated Member or Applicant, including and without limitation, addresses, email addresses and other contact information;
 - (b) Education, training, and experience of the Regulated Member or Applicant including, without limitation, degrees, diplomas, certificates, and professional examinations; and,
 - (c) The Regulated Member's practice of naturopathic medicine, including, without limitation, practice locations, areas of practice, names of supervisors or supervisees, and other professional registrations in Alberta or other jurisdictions;
- 10.3 The Registrar will maintain the General, Provisional and Courtesy Registers which shall include the information required by the Act and Regulations, and which will clearly indicate the category of registration of the Regulated Member;
- 10.4 The Registrar must require Regulated Members and Applicants for Registration to provide all changes to the information required in 10.2 whenever that information changes;
- 10.5 Applicants for registration as a Regulated Member shall provide the information required by the College in accordance with the Act, the Regulations, and any other information deemed necessary by Council including the following:
 - (a) Valid professional errors and omissions liability insurance that extends to all areas of the Regulated Member's practice and that provides coverage for at least \$2,000,000.00 per claim and \$2,000,000.00 in the aggregate for one or more than one claim per year;
 - (b) Evidence of being a Canadian citizen or a person lawfully permitted to work in Canada;
 - (c) Identification documents, including a photograph of the Applicant's likeness;
 - (d) Evidence of having good character and reputation;
 - (e) Evidence of a score of 100 or greater on the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL) when English is not the first language of the applicant;
 - (f) Evidence of school training from a CNME approved school;
 - (g) A criminal record check as set out in the CNDA Administrative Policy: Applications;
 - (h) Evidence of any investigation under the Act, or the equivalent in another jurisdiction;
 - (i) Any information required by the registrar respecting whether any conduct of the applicant has previously constituted unprofessional conduct;
 - (j) Evidence of whether the applicant has had conditions imposed on the applicant's practice permit or equivalent;
 - (k) Evidence as to whether there has been a civil judgment in a civil action against the applicant with respect to the applicant's practice;
 - (I) Where requested, evidence of the applicant's fitness and competence to practice, including;

CNDA Bylaws Page **9** of **13**



- (i) Evidence of being registered with a profession in another jurisdiction recognized by Council as having substantially equivalent competence and practice requirements and meeting the requirements for persons to be registered with that profession in that jurisdiction; or
- (ii) Having, as determined in accordance with the Regulations, a combination of education, experience, practice, or other qualifications that demonstrates the competence required for registration as a regulated member.
- 10.6 No information recorded on a Register for Regulated Members may be changed or added to except in accordance with the direction of the Registrar.
- 10.7 No name shall be removed from a Register for Regulated Members except in accordance with the Act or an Order of a Court of competent jurisdiction.
- 10.8 The Registrar shall disclose information respecting Regulated Members to other regulated jurisdictions, the Government of Alberta, or any legal authority, as required and where appropriate.
- 10.9 Regulated Members must submit a complete application for a practice permit each year on or before the date specified by the Registrar, which shall become effective on the date specified by Council.
- 10.10 The Registrar shall consider for approval complete applications for a practice permit, or may, in their sole discretion, refer such applications to the Registration Committee.
- 10.11 Where a practice permit is cancelled under the Act, except under Part 4, a Regulated Member may apply to the Registrar for the practice permit to be re-issued, and the Registrar may re-issue the practice permit in their discretion.
- 10.12 An applicant may request a review of the decision made by the Registrar pursuant to Bylaws 3.18(e), which shall be conducted in accordance with the Act.
- 10.13 The Registrar may delegate in writing all or any of their duties and responsibilities to another staff member of the College, with or without conditions.

SECTION 11: Practice Permits

- 11.1 Applicants for registration must submit a complete application for a Practice Permit in accordance with procedures outlined in Bylaw 10.5 and Regulated Members must submit a complete application for Practice Permit renewal in accordance with the procedures outlined in Bylaw 109.
- 11.2 If the Registrar determines that a Regulated Member does not comply with conditions imposed on a practice permit then the Registrar may cancel the Regulated Member's practice permit and registration in accordance with Section 43 of the Act.
- 11.3 A Regulated Member whose registration or practice permit has been suspended or cancelled for a reason other than under Part 4 of the Act, may apply for the practice permit to be issued or the registration to be reinstated in accordance with these bylaws.

CNDA Bylaws Page 10 of 13



- 11.4 An application under Bylaw 11.3 shall be in the form determined by the Registrar along with the required fee, any outstanding fees, charges or levies, and any other information required by the Registrar.
- 11.5 The Registrar shall, within a reasonable period of time, consider a completed application under Bylaw 11.4 in accordance with Section 30 or Section 40 of the Act, as the case may be.
- 11.6 Publication or distribution of suspension or cancellation of a member's practice permit pursuant to s.119(1)(f) shall be governed by the CNDA Policy: Publication of Complaints and Concerns which may be amended from time to time pursuant to s.15.2 herein.

SECTION 12: Funds, Fees, Charges, Levies

- 12.1 Council may establish fees, costs, levies or assessments for the following:
 - (a) Application fees;
 - (b) Registration fees;
 - (c) Registration review fees;
 - (d) Practice permit fees;
 - (e) Practice permit review fees;
 - (f) Late payment fees and administrative fees; and,
 - (g) Fees for reviews or appeals of any decisions under the Act.
- 12.2 Council may establish such other fees, costs, levies, and assessments as it deems advisable for anything it considers necessary for services provided by the College or by another organization to a Regulated Member or to any other person.
- 12.3 Council may make use of all revenues received from membership fees and other sources of income to carry out the objectives of the College.
- 12.4 Financial policy pertaining to the College shall be determined by Council on the recommendation of the Executive Committee and the College shall publish annually a copy of its financial information in the form required by the Minister under section 4(1)(f) of the Act.

SECTION 13: Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice

- 13.1 Council may by resolution adopt or amend a Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice, including a Standard of Practice for Continuing Competence Assessment requirements, after completing consultation in accordance with Section 133(2) of the Act.
- 13.2 A Regulated Member receiving notice under Bylaw 13.1 may make submissions in writing to the Registrar within the time period stipulated by Council or the Registrar.
- 13.3 Council shall review and consider any submissions made under Bylaw 13.2.

CNDA Bylaws Page 11 of 13



- 13.4 Despite Bylaw 4.5, Council may, on a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of members of Council present at a meeting, adopt or amend the code of ethics and, on a majority vote of members of Council present at a meeting, adopt or amend Standards of Practice.
- 13.5 Whenever amendments are made to the Code of Ethics or Standards of Practice, any consequential editorial changes as required are implied.

SECTION 14: Website

- 14.1 The College's website shall include, pursuant to s.135.92(4) of the Act, the following information:
 - a) a copy of any decision made by a hearing tribunal, council or court of unprofessional conduct, including any orders made; and,
 - b) whether a regulated member's practice permit has been suspended or cancelled as a result of a decision of unprofessional conduct.
- 14.2 The College's website shall include any information as set out in all relevant CNDA Administrative Policies as it pertains to publishing outcomes of processed complaints.

SECTION 15: Fiscal Year

15.1 The College's fiscal year will be from January 1st to December 31st each year.

SECTION 16: Budget

- 16.1 The College's annual budget shall be prepared by the Executive Committee and will be presented to Council for approval.
- 16.2 The approved budget, as well as an audited financial statement of the prior year's budget and expenditures will be made available to Members upon request.

SECTION 17: Auditors

- 17.1 Council shall appoint one or more chartered accountants registered in the Province of Alberta as auditor for the College.
- 17.2 The Auditor shall, at least once each year, examine the accounts, books and securities of the College and provide a written report to the Council.
- 17.3 The Register shall publish annually a copy of the audited financial statements.

CNDA Bylaws Page 12 of 13



SECTION 18: Expenses and Remuneration

18.1 Members of Council and members of committees when attending or conducting business on behalf of the College may claim expenses and per diem amounts as determined by resolution of Council.

SECTION 19: Head Office

19.1 The head office of the College will be at such location as may be determined by the Council.

SECTION 20: Delegation

- 20.1 Subject to Sections 19 and 20 of the Act:
 - (a) Council may, by resolution, delegate any of its powers and duties under the Act and these Bylaws to one or more persons or committees.
 - (b) A person or committee to whom a power or duty is given under the Act or these Bylaws may in writing delegate the power or duty to one or more persons or Committees.

SECTION 21: Adoption or Amendment or Bylaws

21.1 Despite Bylaw 4.5, Council may, on a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of members of Council present at a meeting, adopt new Bylaws or amend the College's current Bylaws as provided for in the Act.



CNDA Bylaws Page 13 of 13